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Commission v. Bunzai Media Group, Inc. et al

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION,
Plaintiff,
V.

BUNZAI MEDIA GROUP, INC. , et
al.

Defendants.

Case No. CV 15-4527-GW/(PLAX)

PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION
ORDER WITH ASSET FREEZE,
APPOINTMENT OF
PERMANENT RECEIVER AND
OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF AS
TO DEFENDANTS IGOR
LATSANOVSKI AND
CALENERGY, INC.

Plaintiff, Federal Trade CommissigRTC), filed its Complaint for a

Permanent Injunction and Other Eqbi&Relief, seeking a temporary,

preliminary, and permanent injunctiongtop Defendants from violating Sectior
5(a) of the Federal Trade Commissiaet (FTC Act), 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), Sectior

5 of the Restore Online Shoppergi@idence Act (ROSCA), 15 U.S.C. § 8404,
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and Section 917(c) of the Electronic Fund Trangfct (EFTA), 15 U.S.C

8 16930(c), while advertisingnharketing, promoting, asffering for sale skincare
products. On June 17, 2015, following an on-the-record hearing, the Court is
anex partetemporary restraining order wittn asset freeze, appointment of a
temporary receiver, and an order lm® cause why a preliminary injunction
should not issue. Defendants wereved with the summons, Complaiiix Parte
Temporary Restraining Order with Asset Freeze, Appointment of Temporary
Receiver, and other Equitable Reliahd Order to Show Cause Why a
Preliminary Injunction Should Not Issulaintiff Federal Trade Commission’s
Memorandum in Support &x ParteApplication for a Temporary Restraining
Order and Other EquitabRelief and Order to Show Cause Why a Preliminary

Injunction Should Not Issuand other related papers.

After hearings on August 6 adigust 24, 2015, and with due
consideration of the FTC’s pleading aretthrations, exhibits, and memoranda
support, as well as all responsive plegd and accompanying documents, this
Court finds that:

FINDINGS
1. This Court has jurisdiction ovére subject matter of this case and

jurisdiction over the parties, andruee in this district is proper.
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2. Thecomplaintstakes a claim upon whichlref may be granted unde
Sections 5, 13, and 19 of the FTC A%, U.S.C. 88 45(a), 53(b), and 57b, and
under 15 U.S.C. 88 8404 and 16930(c).

3. Section 13(b) of the FTC Acli@ws this Court to grant the FTC a
preliminary injunction upon a showing thateighing the equities and consideri
the FTC’s likelihood of ultimate successpr@liminary injunction is in the public
interest. 15 U.S.C. 8§ 53(b). Section 19 &f BArC Act allows this Court to grant
such relief as the Court finds necesdaryedress injury to consumers resulting
from the violation of any rule enfoed by the FTC. 15 U.S.C. § 57.

4. In deciding whether to grapteliminary relief, the Court must,
therefore: (a) consider the likelihoodatithe FTC will ultimately succeed on the
merits; and (b) balance the equitiE3C v. Affordable Media, LLC179 F.3d
1228, 1233 (9th Cir. 1999). The FTC “need not show irreparable harm to obf
preliminary injunction.”ld. at 1233 (quoting-TC v. Warner Commc’ns, Incr42
F.2d 1156, 1159 (9tBir. 1984)).

5. There is good cause to belighat Defendants have engaged in, al
are likely to engage in, acts or practicest thiolate Section 5(a) of the FTC Act,
ROSCA, and EFTA and Regtilen E, and that the Plaintiff is likely to succeed

the merits of this action.

(PROPOSED) PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION
Page | 3

=

ain a

on




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

6. There is good cause to belig¢liat immediate and irreparable harn
will result from Defendants’ ongoing violais of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act,
ROSCA, and EFTA, unless Defendantsr@srained and enjoined by Order of
this Court.

7. There is good cause to belig¢liat immediate and irreparable

damage to the Court’s ability to grasftective final relief to consumers —

including rescission or reformation of caatts, restitution, the refund of monies

paid, and the disgorgement of ill-gattenonies — will occur from the sale,
transfer, or other disposition or concealhby Defendants of assets or recordg
and that therefore in acaance with Federal Rule @hivil Procedure 65(b), the
interest of justice requires that this Order be granted.

8. There is good cause to believattthis Preliminary Injunction is in

the public interest, and no private interest of Defendants outweighs the public

interest.

9. Weighing the equities andmsidering the FTC’s likelihood of
ultimate success, this Preliminary Injurctiwith asset freeze, appointment of 3
Permanent Receiver, anchet equitable relief is ithe public interest.

10. The United States, its officees)d its agencies are not required to

give security for issuance of a restrag order. Fed. R. Civ. P. 65(c).
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DEFINITIONS

For the purposes of this Order, the following definitions apply:

1. “Asset” or “Assets” means any legal or equitable right, title, intere

or claim to any item of emomic value, in whole or part, whether tangible or
intangible, including but not limited t@ccounts, accounts receivables, cash,
certificates of deposit, chats, checks, commoditiespmtracts, credits, currency
fixtures, funds, equipment, income, inggltual property, inventory, instruments
investments, leaseholds, lines of éteahail, notes, personal property, real
property, revenues, securitishares of stock, or trustwhether located within or|
outside the United States.

2. “Clear(ly) and Conspicuous(ly)” means that a required disclosurg
difficult to miss {.e., easily noticeable) and easily understandable by ordinary
consumers, including in all of the following ways:

a. In any communication that is solely visual or solely audible
the disclosure must be madeahgh the same means through which the
communication is presented. Injacommunication made through both
visual and audible means, such adevision advertisement, the disclosu
must be presented simultaneously in both the visual and audible portic
the communication even if the repeegation requiring the disclosure is

made in only one means.
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b. A visual disclosure, by its size, contrast, location, the lengt
time it appears, and other charaistiecs, must stand out from any
accompanying text or other visual elertgeso that it is easily noticed, rea
and understood.

C. An audible disclosure, including by telephone or streaming
video, must be delivered in a volefrspeed, and cadence sufficient for
ordinary consumers to easily hear and understand it.

d. In any communication using ameractive electronic medium
such as the Internet or softwareg thisclosure must be unavoidable.

e. On a product label, the dissloe must be presented on the
principal display panel.

f. The disclosure must use tlan and syntax understandable tg
ordinary consumers and must app@agach language in which the
representation that requires the disclosure appears.

g. The disclosure must comphith these requirements in each
medium through which it is receivedgcluding all electronic devices and
face-to-face communications.

h. The disclosure must not bentradicted or mitigated by, or

inconsistent with, anythinglse in the communication.
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I When the representation salles practice targets a specific
audience, such as children, the elgeok the terminally ill, “ordinary
consumers” includes reasonable members.

3. “Continuity Plan” means any plan, arrangement, or system in
which a consumer is periodicaliyarged for products or serviogghoutprior
notification by the seller before each charge.

4. “Defendants means all of the Individual Defendants and Corpora
Defendants, individually, collectaly, or in any combination.

a. “Individual Defendant” means Igor Latsanovski.

b. “Corporate Defendant’ or “Receivership Defendaritmeans
CalEnergy, Inc. and their successand assigns, as well as any
subsidiaries, fictitious business entities business names created or use
by these entities or by the Individual Defendants that are related to, or
receive funds from, the sale ofis&are or other products online.

5.  “Document’ means the complete origal and any non-identical
copy (whether different from the original because of notations or otherwise)
anyelectronically stored information or filmed, graphic, imaged, printed,
punched, texted, transcribdygped, written, matter of evy type and description,
including but not limited to writings, dwings, graphs, charts, photographs, so

records, images, and other data or dataptations that are stored in any medit
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from which information can be obtainetther directly or indirectly or, if
necessary, translated iraadeasonably usable form.

6. “Electronic Fund Transfer” means any transfer of funds, other th
a transaction originated by check, draftsimilar paper instrument, which is
initiated through an electronic terminal, telephonic instrument, or computer G
magnetic tape so as to order, instructaathorize a financial institution to debit
credit an account. Such term includesnpaf-sale transfers, automated teller
machine transactions, direct depositsvithdrawals of funds, and transfers
initiated by telephone. Su¢brm does not include:

a. Any check guarantee or autization service that does not

directly result in a debit or edit to a consumer’s account;

AN

or

b. Any transfer of funds, othénan those processed by automated

clearinghouse, made by adincial institution on behalf of a consumer by

means of a service that transfers fuhdkl at either Faeral Reserve banks

or other depository institutions and tlienhot designed primarily to transfe

funds on behalf of a consumer;
C. Any transaction the primary purpose of which is the purcha
or sale of securities or commoditiesdtigh a broker-dealer registered wit

or regulated by the Securities and Exchange Commission;
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d. Any automatic transfer fromsavings account to a demand

deposit account pursuant to an agnent between @nsumer and a

financial institution for the purpose obvering an overdraft or maintainin

an agreed upon minimum balancehe consumer’s demand deposit
account; or

e. Any transfer of fundwhich is initiated by a telephone
conversation between a canser and an officer or employee of a financi
institution which is not pursuant soprearranged plan and under which
periodic or recurring transfers are not contemplated.

7. “Financial Institution ” means an insured bank; a commercial bar
or trust company; a private banker; an axyeor branch of a foreign bank; a cre
union; a thrift institution; a broker oredler registered with the Securities and
Exchange Commission; a broker or égah securities or commodities; an
investment banker or investment camny; a currency exchange; an issuer,

redeemer, or cashier of travelers’ checks, cheaunksey orders, or similar

instruments; an operator of a credit caydtem; an insurance company; a deale

In precious metals, stones, or jewels; ipiaroker; a loan or finance company;
licensed sender of money or any otheispa who engages as a business in the
transmission of funds, including anyrpen who engages as a business in an

informal money transfer system aryanetwork of people&ho engage as a
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business in facilitating the transfer of money domestically or internationally
outside of the conventional financial fiigtions system; a telegraph company; §
business engaged in vehicle sales, including automobile, airplane, and boat
persons involved in real estate closiagsl settlements; the United States Post
Service; a casino, gambling aagj or gaming establishment.

8. “Material” means likely to affect a pson’s choice of, or conduct
regarding, goods or services.

9. “Negative Optiori means, in an offer or agement to sell or provid
any good or service, a provision under whicé consumer’s silence or failure tg
take an affirmative action t@ject a good or service tr cancel the agreement i
interpreted by the seller or provider asgutance or continuing acceptance of t
offer or agreement.

10. “Persorf means a natural person, arganization or other legal
entity, including an association, coogtive, corporation, limited liability
company, partnership, sgbeoprietorship, or angther group or combination
acting as an entity.

11. “Plaintiff” or “FTC” means the Federal Trade Commission.

12. *“Preauthorized Electronic Fund Transfer’ means an electronic

fund transfer authorized in advance toweat substantially regular intervals.

13. *“PermanentReceivel means the receiver appointed in Section Xl
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of this Order and any deputy receivers that shall be named by the Permaner
Receiver.

ORDER
l. PROHIBITED BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Individual and Corporate Defendants 3
their officers, agents, employees, andraigs, and all other persons in active
concert or participation with any of themiho receive actual notice of this Orde
whether acting directly or indirectly, tonnection with the sale of any good or
service, are preliminarilyestrained and enjoindbm:

A.  Failing to disclose or discloseedrly and conspicuously, or assistin
others in failing to disclose clearlya@ conspicuously, athaterial terms and
conditions of their offer, including:

1. That Defendants will use consers’ credit card or financial
account information to charge consumers the full costs of a product ug
the expiration of a limited trial period,;

2. The dates that any trigeriod begins and ends;

3. That Defendants will enrolbosumers into a negative option
continuity plan with additional charges;

4. The cost of any continuiglan and the frequency and duratig

of recurring charges;
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5. The means consumers mus ts cancel the negative option
program and to avoiddditional charges; and
6. Requirements of their refund policies.
B. Misrepresenting, or assisting othén misrepresenting, directly or
indirectly, expressly or by implicatiomny material fact, including that:
1. Consumers can obtain atvartised product for “free,”
“risk-free,” or for only a nominal shipping and handling fee; and
2. Defendants are accredited lygldave a rating of “A-" with
the Better Business Bureau; and
C. Charging, causing to be charged, or assisting others in charging
consumer’s credit card, or debiting, causing to be debited, or assisting other
debiting any consumer’s financial awmt, without the consumer’s express
informed consent for €4 charge or debit.
. PROHIBITIONS AGAINST UN FAIR AND DECEPTIVE

NEGATIVE OPTION MARKET ING PRACTICES ON THE
INTERNET

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Individual and Corporate Defendants
and their officers, agents, employees, amaraeys, and all other persons in act
concert or participation with any of themiho receive actual notice of this Orde
whether acting directly or indirectly, tonnection with the sale of any good or
service are preliminarily restrained and enjoifreth charging, causing to be
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charged, assisting others in charging atbtempting to charge any consumer in
Internet-based sale of a good or service sold through a negative option withg

A.  Clearly and conspicuously dissing all material terms of the
negative option features before obtainihg consumer’s billing information;

B. Obtaining a consumer’s expresfoimed consent to the negative
option features befonmaking any charge; and

C. Providing a simple mechanismrfa consumer to stop recurring
charges from being placed on the constsn&edit card, debit card, or other
financial account.

1. PROHIBITIONS AGAINST DEBI TING CONSUMERS’ BANK
ACCOUNTS WITHOUT AUTHORIZATION

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Individual and Corporate Defendants
and their officers, agents, employees, amaraeys, and all other persons in act
concert or participation with any of themiho receive actual notice of this Orde
whether acting directly or indirectly, tonnection with the sale of any good or
service, are preliminarily strained and enjoined from:

A.  Failing to timely obtain written authorization signed or similarly
authenticated by the consumer for &rgauthorized Electronic Fund Transfer
from a consumer’s account before irtiti@ any Preauthorized Electronic Fund
Transfer; and

B. Failing to provide to the conmer a copy of a valid written
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authorization signed or similarly gaenticated by the consumer for any
Preauthorized Electronic Fund Tek@r from a consumer’s account.
V. ASSET FREEZE

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Individual and Corporate Defendants
and their officers, agents, employees, amaoraeys, and all other persons in act
concert or participation with any of themiho receive actual notice of this Orde
whether acting directly or indirectly,apreliminarily restrained and enjoined
from directly or indirectly:

A.  Assigning, concealing, conuarg, disbursing, dissipating,
encumbering, liquidating, loaning, pledging, selling, spending, transferring, g
withdrawing any asset that is:

1. owned, controlled by, or held for the benefit of, any Defend
directly or indirectly;

2. in the actual or constriime possession of any Defendant;

3. held as a retainer or deposit for the provision of goods or
services to any Defendant; or

4. owned, controlled by, held fdre benefit of, or in the actual ¢
constructive possession, of any enttgectly or indirectly owned,

managed, or contlied by any Defendant;
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B.  Opening or causing to be opereny safe depoditox, commercial
mail box, or storage facility belonging, tior the use or benefit of, under the
control of, or subject to access by, any Defendant;

C. Incurring charges or cash advanoasany credit card, debit card, o
checking card issued in the name, singly or jointly, of any Defendant;

D.  Obtaining or providing a persoral secured loan that encumbers @

asset of any Defendant; and

E. Cashing any checks or depositimy anoney orders or cash receive

from consumers, clients, customers of any Defendant.

F.  Provided, howevethat the following properties may be sold by
Defendants at any price which exceélde outstanding loan amounts on the
property or upon FTC approval or at the faarket value as determined by an
independent third party appraiser:

1. 1737 W 35th St., Los Angeles 90018 (“35th St”)

2. 657 W Acacia Ave., El Segundo 90245 (“Acacia”)

3. 21809-21811 Figueroa Starson, CA 90745 (“Figueroa”)
4. 3214 W 113th St., Inglewad, CA 90304 (“113th St”)

5. 5624 Stratford Rd., Los Anigs, CA 90042 (“Stratford”)

6. 1032 W 22nd St., Los Angsl¢USC), CA 90007 (“22nd St”)

7. 2445 Louella Ave., Venice, CA 90029 (“Louella”)

(PROPOSED) PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION
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8. 3777 Rosewood Ave., Losngeles, CA 8066 (“Rosewood”)

9. 3783 Redwood Ave, Los grles, CA 90066 (“Redwood”)

10. 430 W. San Antonio Dr., Long Beach, CA 90807 (“Long

Beach”)

If Defendants wish to sell any ofdlabove-listed propees for a sale
price below the outstanding loan amounts on the property, Defendants must
submit the proposed sale price to theCRWith an invoice for services to be
provided by a mutually agreed third paagypraiser. The FTC will then authoriz
a release of funds to pay the agregdn appraiser from Sunset’s funds. Upon
receipt of the appraisal, the FTC shall h&ive business days to file a notice of
objection of sale with the Court. If the FTC does not object within that time,
Defendants may sell the property at thegased sale price. If the FTC objects,
Defendants may request ax parteorder from the Court to permit the sale of th
property, which the FTC may opposeany property sells for under the
outstanding loan amount, the closing c@stsociated with thgale may be paid
from proceeds from the sale thie property. However, if the property is sold for
more than the loan amount, closing castall be paid from the sales proceeds
exceeding the outstanding loan amount.

G.  All proceeds from the sale oftl35th St, Acacia, Figueroa, 113th §

Stratford, 22nd St, Louella, Rosewod&ttdwood and Long Beach (collectively
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the “Properties”) will remain frozen until further order of the Court or upon
stipulation of the parties, except as follows:

1. Upon the sale of 35th St, apsoceeds over $300,000 shall not be
subject to this freeze and shall beeesded to Sunset klng Partners LLC
(“Sunset”).

2. Upon the sale of Acacia, any proceeds over $800,000 shall not |
subject to this freeze and dHae released to Sunset.

3. Upon the sale of Figueroa, gmypceeds over $1,100,000 shall not
subject to this freeze and dHae released to Sunset.

4. Upon the sale of 113th St, any proceeds over $300,000 shall no
subject to this freeze and #hze released to Sunset.

5. Upon the sale of Stratfordpyaproceeds over $600,000 shall not b
subject to this freeze and dHae released to Sunset.

6. Upon the sale of 22nd St, any proceeds over $450,000 shall not
subject to this freeze and dHae released to Sunset.

7. Upon the sale of Louella, apyoceeds over $1,218,000 shall not [
subject to this freeze and dHae released to Sunset.

8. Upon the sale of Rosewoa)y proceeds over $1,100,000 shall ng

be subject to this freeze andhlitbe released to Sunset.
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9. Upon the sale of Redwoodyyaproceeds over $1,100,000 shall not

be subject to this freeze andhitbe released to Sunset.

10. Upon the sale of Long Bea@ny proceeds over $1,000,000 shall
be subject to this freeze andalitbe released to Sunset.

H.  The proceeds subject to theset freeze from the above-listed
properties shall be placed in the Weélsrgo account in the name of Sunset
Holding Partners LLC ending in 9222.

l. Within five business days of the real estate closing of the Proper
Defendants must provide the €&l closing documents.

J. The assets affected by thisc8on shall include all assets of
Defendants as of the timedlorder is enteredProvided, howevethat assets
obtained by Individual Defendants or Reership Defendants after the time thi
Order is entered that are not derivedectly or indirectly, from activities as
described in the Commission’s Complashall not be frozen. Notwithstanding
the provisions in this Section, Def@ants may seek, and the FTC may oppose
modifications of this asset freeze at aimye, including but not limited to requesit
for disbursements from the Sunset funds subject to this asset freeze and req
for a monthly disbursement to paydorary living expenses, including his

mortgage payments, as wellr@aasonable attorneys’ feeall provisions in this

(PROPOSED) PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION
Page | 18

not

ties,

S

S

juests




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

Section shall remain in effect untilfurther Order of the Court or upon
agreement of the parties.
V. DUTIES OF ASSET HOLDERS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that any financial ingution or person that
has, or that at any time since Janukr2010, has had, custody or control over |
asset belonging to, for the use or benefit of, under the control of or subject tq
access by any Defendant and that is jgled with a copy of this Order, or
otherwise has actual or construetiknowledge of this Order shall:

A. Hold and retain any dbefendants’ assets that are within its contrg
and prohibit Defendants from assigniegncealing, converting, disbursing,
dissipating, encumbering, liquidatinganing, pledging, selling, spending,
transferring, or withdrawing any asset except:

1. as directed by further order of the Court;

2. as directed in writing by ¢hPermanent Receiver (regarding
asset belonging to, for the use or Héared, under the control of, or subject
to access by a Receivership Defendant); or

3. by written stipulation of the Plaintiff;

B. Deny Defendants access tyyaafe deposit boxcommercial mail
box, or storage facility belonging to, for the use or benefit of, under the contr

or subject to access by, any Defendant;
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C.

Within five (5) business daystarf receiving a copy of this Order,

provide counsel for Plaintiff and the fAf@ganent Receiver a certified statement

setting forth:

Receiver, provide Plaintiff and the PerreahReceiver with copies of document

1. the identification number of each account or asset belongir

to, for the use or benefit of, under ttantrol of, or subject to access by,

any Defendant; and

2. the balance of each accountaadescription of the nature anc

value of such asset as of the elad business on the day on which this

Order is received, and, if the accoonbther asset has been closed or

removed, or more than $1,000 withdrawn or transferred from it, the da

the closure or removal of funds, théalcfunds removed or transferred, an

the name of the person to whom sadcount or othersset was remitted;

and

D.

Within five (5) days of a request by Plaintiff or the Permanent

relating to each asset, including, Imot limited to, account applications,

statements, signature cards, checks, draégsosit tickets, transfers to and from

the accounts, all other debit and cred#tinments or slips, currency transactior

reports, 1099 forms, arghfe deposit box logs.

VI.

SERVICE ON FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS OR PERSONS
HOLDING ASSETS

(PROPOSED) PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that copies of this Order may be served k
any means, including U.S. first class mailgrnight delivery, facsimile, electron
mail, or personally by agents or empt@g of the Plaintiff or the Permanent
Receiver, by any law enfament agency, or by process server, upon any per
or financial institution thatmay have possession, cudy, or control over any
asset or document belonging to, for the use or benefit of, under the control g
subject to access by, any Defendanthat may otherwise be subject to any
provision of this Order. Service upon any branch or office of any financial
institution shall effect service upon the entire financial institution.

VII. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Individual and Corporate Defendant

shall each:

A.  Within five (5) days after sere of this Order, prepare and provide

to Plaintiff and the Permanent Regsi complete and accurate financial
statements, on the forms attachedt#achments A andB of this Order,
disclosing all personal asseisd all assets of corporatis, partnerships, trusts o

other entities that such Defendant owngontrols, jointy or individually;

B.  Within five (5) business days afteervice of this Order, prepare and

provide to Plaintiff and the Permanentde&er complete and accurate copies G
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federal and state income tax forms, utthg all schedules and attachments for
three most recent filing years; and

C. Immediately upon service of thiyder, provide access to documer
held by persons and finaatinstitutions located outside the United States by
signing the Consent to Release of FinanRecords, attached to this Order as
Attachment C.

VIII. REPATRIATION OF A SSETS AND DOCUMENTS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that immediately upon service of this
Order, each Individual andorporate Defendant shall:

A.  Take such steps as are necestatyansfer to the United States all
assets and documents that are located outside the United States and belong
for the use or benefit of, are under the control of, or are subject to access by
such Defendant; and

B. Hold and retain all repatriategsets and prevent and disposition,
transfer, or dissipation of such assetsept as required by this Order.

IX. NONINTERFERENCE WI TH REPATRIATION

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Individual and Corporate Defendants
and their officers, agents, employees, amoraeys, and all other persons in act
concert or participation witany of them who receive @l notice of this Order,

whether acting directly or indirectly,apreliminarily restrained and enjoined
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from taking any action that may resultthie encumbrance or dissipation of
foreign assets, or in the hindrance & tkpatriation requickby Section VIII of
this Order, including:

A. Sending any statement, letter, faxpail or wire transmission,
telephoning, or engaging in any other actedily or indirectly, that results in a
determination by a foreign trustee ohet entity that a “duress” event has
occurred under the terms of a foreign tragteement until sudime as all assets
have been fully repatriated accorditagSection VIII of this Order; or

B. Notifying any trustee, protector, or other agent of any of the
Defendants of the existence of this Orderof the fact that repatriation is
required under a Court Order, until suche as all assets have been fully
repatriated according to Section VIl of this Order.

X. CONSUMER CREDIT REPORTS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the FTC may obtain credit reports
concerning any Individual and Corpor&efendant pursuant to Section 604(a)(
of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15.S.C. § 1681b(a)(1), and that, upon writte
request, any consumer reporting agenoynfivhich such reports are requested

shall provide them to the FTC.

(PROPOSED) PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION
Page | 23

1)



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

XI. PRESERVATION OF RECORDS AND REPORT NEW
BUSINESS ACTIVITY

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Individual and Corporate Defendants
and their officers, agents, employees, amaraeys, and all other persons in act
concert or participation with any of themho receive actual notice of this Orde
whether acting directly or indirectly, are hereby preliminarily restrained and
enjoinedfrom:

A.  Altering, concealing, destroying,asing, mutilating, transferring, of
otherwise disposing of, in any manndirectly or indirectly, any documents,
including electronically stored materialbat relate in any way to the business
practices or business or personal feesof Defendants; or to the business
practices or finances of entities ditlgr indirectly under the control of
Defendants; and

B. Creating, operating, or exergigi any control over any business
entity, whether newly formed or previdusnactive, including any partnership,
limited partnership, joint vente, sole proprietorship, @orporation, without first
providing Plaintiff with a written stateemt disclosing: (1) the name of the
business entity; (2) the address andpieteie number of the business entity; (3)
the names of the business entity’s officelisgctors, principals, managers, and
employees; and (4) a detailed desooip of the business entity’s intended

activities.
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XII. PROHIBITION ON RELEASE OF CUSTOMER INFORMATION
OR CUSTOMER LISTS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Individual and Corporate Defendants
and their officers, agents, employees, amaraeys, and all other persons in act
concert or participation with any of themho receive actual notice of this Orde
whether acting directly or indirectly, are hereby preliminarily restrained and
enjoinedfrom:

A. selling, renting, leasing, transfg, or otherwise disclosing the

name, address, telephone numbezditrcard number, bank account number, et

mail address, or other identifying infoaton of any persowho paid money to
the Defendants for products or servicesybp were contacted or are on a list t(
be contacted by the Defendants; and

B. Benefitting from or using the namagdress, birth date, telephone
number, email addresSpcial Security numbers, credit card number, bank
account number, or other financialidentifying personal information of any
person from whom or abouthom any Defendant obteed such information in
connection with the activitieslleged in the Complaint.

Providedhoweverthat the Individual and Corporate Defendants may
disclose such identifying information #golaw enforcement agency or as requirg

by any law, regulation, or court order.
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XII. APPOINTMENT OF PERMANENT RECEIVER

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Charlene Koonce is appointed as
Permanent Receiver for the Receiverdbgiendants, with the full power of an
equity receiver. The Permanent Recesfaall be the agent of this Court when
serving as Permanent Receiver, and stmatfiply with the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure and the Local Rules of this Court.

X1V, PERMANENT RECEIVER’S DUTIES

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Permanent Rewger is authorized
and directed to accomplish the following:

A. Assume full control of the Receauship Defendants by removing, a
the Permanent Receiver deems necessaagvisable, any director, officer,
independent contractor, employeeagent of any of the Receivership
Defendants, including any Defendaingm control of, management of, or
participation in, the affairs dhe Receivership Defendants;

B. Continue and conduct the businesshef Receivership Defendants
such manner, to such extent, and for statation as the Permanent Receiver n
in good faith deem to be necessarappropriate to operate the business
profitably and lawfully, if at all; ppvided, however, that the continuation and
conduct of the business shall be atinded upon the Permanent Receiver’s go

faith determination that the business catavdully operated at a profit using th¢
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assets of the receivership estate;

C. Take exclusive custody, contraind possession afl assets and
documents of, or in the possession, odgt or control of, the Receivership
Defendants, wherever situated. The Pament Receiver shall have full power td

divert mail and to sue for, collect, recejtake in possessionpld, and manage

U

all assets and documents of the RecsivigrDefendants amather persons whosg
interests are now under the directipnssession, custody, or control of, the
Receivership Defendants. The Permar&atteiver shall assume control over the

income and profits and all sums of mgm®w or hereafter due or owing to the

Receivership Defendant8rovided,however, that the Permanent Receiver shal
not attempt to collect any amount frartonsumer if the Permanent Receiver
believes the consumer was a victim of timéair or deceptive acts or practices or
other violations of law alleged in the Complaint;

D. Take all steps necessary to gecthe business premises of the

Receivership Defendants. Such steps may include, but are not limited to, any of

the following, as the Permanent Receigdeems necessary or advisable:
1. serving this Order;
2. completing a written inventpof all Receivership assets;
3. obtaining pertinent infornti@n from all employees and other

agents of the Receivership Defendamcluding the name, home address,
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Social Security number, job descriptiarser names or passwords neede
access Receivership Daftants’ documents, methods of compensation,
all accrued and unpaid commissions and compensation of each such
employee or agent;

4, photographing and videotagiany or all portions of the
location;

5. securing the location by changing the locks and disconneg
any computer modems or other meahaccess to the computer or other
records maintained #bat location;

6. opening and inventoryingny safe deposit box, commercial
mail box, or storage facility in the mae of any Receership Defendant,
either individually or jointly, or gbject to access by any Receivership
Defendant; and

7. requiring any persons presentthe premises at the time this
Order is served to leave the premjgesprovide the Permanent Receiver

with proof of identification, or talemonstrate to the satisfaction of the

Permanent Receiver that such persanmesnot removing from the premises

assets or documents of the Reeeship Defendants. Law enforcement
personnel, including police or sherifffay assist the Permanent Receivg

in implementing these provisions inder to keep the peace and maintain
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security. If requested by the Permani@eteiver, the United States Marsh

will provide appropriat@and necessary assistance to the Permanent

Receiver to implement this Order;

E. Conserve, hold, and manageasdbkets of the Receivership
Defendants, and perforall acts necessary or advidato preserve the value of
those assets in order to prevent angparable loss, damage, or injury to

consumers or creditors of the Receivership Defendants, including obtaining

accounting of the assets and preventirgguhauthorized transfer, withdrawal, or

misapplication of assets;

F.  Enter into and cancel contracésd purchase insurance as the
Permanent Receiver deeadvisable or necessary;

G. Prevent the inequitable distributionassets and determine, adjust
and protect the interests of consumerg ereditors who have transacted busing
with the Receivership Defendants;

H. Manage and administer the busa®f the Receivership Defendant
by performing all incidental acts thite Permanent Receiver deems to be
advisable or necessary, which includetining, hiring, or dismissing any
employees, independent contractors, or agents;

l. Authorize the release of any copy or image of any website used

controlled by the Receivershipefendants to the FTC;
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J. Choose, engage, and employ attosy@ccountants, appraisers, an
other independent contractors and techrspalialists, as the Permanent Recei
deems advisable or necessary in thidgomance of dutieand responsibilities
under the authority granted by this Order;

K.  Make payments and disbursementsifiihie receivership estate tha
are necessary or advisable for carryingtbetdirections of, or exercising the
authority granted by, this Order. The Pamant Receiver shall apply to the Cou
for prior approval of any payment afhy debt or obligation incurred by the
Receivership Defendants prior to the datemtfy of this Order, except payment
that the Permanent Receiver deems necessagvisable to secure assets of th
Receivership Defendants,cduas rental payments;

L. Institute, compromise, adjust, &3y in, intervene in, or become
party to such actions or proceedingsiate, federal doreign courts or
arbitration proceedings as the Permdri®eceiver deems necessary and advisé
to preserve or recover the assets ef@eceivership Defendants, or that the
Permanent Receiver deemscessary and advisabledarry out the Permanent
Receiver's mandate under this Order, unlthg actions challenging fraudulent o
voidable transfers;

M. Defend, compromise, adjust, ohetwise dispose of any or all

actions or proceedings instituted in the past or in the future against the Pernm
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Receiver in the role of Permanent Receiver, or against the Receivership

Defendants, as the Permanent Receiver dewuessary and advisable to prese

the assets of the Receivership Defenslamt as the Permanent Receiver deems

necessary and advisable to carry oetRermanent Receiver’'s mandate under
Order;

N.  Take depositions and issue subpoenas to obtain documents and
records pertaining to the receivership estnd compliance with this Order.
Subpoenas may be served by agentdtorreeys of the Permanent Receiver anc
by agents of any process servaanged by the Permanent Receiver;

O. Maintain accurate records of allaeipts and expenditures incurred
Permanent Receiver;

P.  Open one or more bank accountslasignated depositories for fung
of the Receivership Defendants. The Pament Receiver shall deposit all funds
the Receivership Defendants in sudeasignated account and shall make all
payments and disbursements from theiv@rship estate frm such account. The
Permanent Receiver shaélrve copies of monthly account statements on all
parties; and

Q. Cooperate with reasonable reqsdstr information or assistance

from any state or federldw enforcement agency.
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XV. PERMANENT RECEIVER’S BOND

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Permanent Baiver has filed with
the Clerk of this Court a bond in thenswf $20,000, with sureties approved by
this Court, and shall wedind truly perform the duties of the office and abide by
and perform all acts the Court directs.
XVI. DELIVERY OF RECEIV ERSHIP PROPERTY

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Individual and Corporate Defendants
and their officers, agents, employees, amoraeys, and all other persons in act
concert or participation with any of themiho receive actual notice of this Orde
and any other person with possession, custody or control of assets or docun
relating to the Receivership Defendashall upon notice of this Order, by
personal service or otherwise, immediatebtify the Permanent Receiver of, an
upon receiving a request from the Permanent Receiver, immediately transfe
deliver to the Permanent Receivespession, custody, and control of, the
following:

A. All assets of the Reoeership Defendants;

B. All documents of the Receivershipefendants, including books ang
records of accounts, all financial and @aeting records, balance sheets, incom
statements, bank records (including monstatements, canceled checks, reco

of wire transfers, and check registedjent lists, title documents and other
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papers;

C.  All computers and data in wheater form used to conduct the
business of the Receivership Defendants; and

D. All usernames, keyspdes, and passwords nssary to gain or to
secure access to any assar documents of thieeceivership Defendants,
including access to their business presgjsneans of commugdation, accounts,
computer systems, or other property.

In the event that any person or entity fadsleliver or transfer any asset ¢
document or otherwise fails to complytlwvany provision of this Section, the
Permanent Receiver may fix partean Affidavit of Non-Compliance regarding
the failure. Upon filing of the affidat; the Court may authorize, without
additional process or demand, WritsRaissession or Sequestration or other
equitable writs requested by the Permarceiver. The writs shall authorize
and direct the United States Marshabhay sheriff or deputy sheriff of any

county, or any othdederal or state law enforcemefficer, to seize the asset,

document, or other item covered by thec&on and to deliver it to the Permanent

Receiver.

XVII. PROVISION OF INFORMATION TO PERMANENT RECEIVER

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Individual and Corporate Defendants

shall provide to the Permanent Receivemmediately upon request, without neg
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of any subpoena or furtherder, the following:

A. Alist of all locations where documents of the Receivership
Defendants are located, atie means to access suchwwoents within five hours
of the Permanent Receiver’s request; and

B.  Within forty-eight (48) hours o$ervice of this Order, the
Individual and Corporate Defendants lpaoduce to the Permanent Receiver &
list of all agents, employees, officees)d those persons in active concert and
participation with them, Wwo have been associated or done business with the
Receivership Defendant(s).

XVIIl.  COOPERATION WITH THE PERMANENT RECEIVER

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Individual and Corporate Defendants
and their officers, agents, employees, amaoraeys, and all other persons in act
concert or participation with any of themiho receive actual notice of this Orde
and any other person serwedh a copy of this Ordeshall fully cooperate with
and assist the Permanent Receiver kmtaand maintaining possession, custod
or control of the assets and documaeritthe Receivership Defendants. This
cooperation and assistanshall include:

A.  Providing information to the Permamt Receiver that the Permane
Receiver deems necessary in order &reise the authority and discharge the

responsibilities of the Permanent Receiver under this Order;
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B.  Advising all persons who owe mont® the Receivership Defendar
that all debts should be paid ditlgdo the Permanent Receiver; and

C. Transferring funds at the Permanent Receiver’s direction and
producing documents relak¢o the assets and salaf the Receivership
Defendants. The entities obligated tmperate with the Pmanent Receiver
under this provision include financial instians and persons that have transac
business with the Receivership Defendants.

XIX. NONINTERFERENCE WITH THE PERMANENT RECEIVER

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Individual and Corporate Defendants
and their officers, agents, employees, raggs, and all other persons in active
concert or participation with any of themiho receive actual notice of this Orde
and their corporations, subsidiaries, dioms, or affiliates, & hereby restrained
and enjoined from directly or indirectly:

A. Interfering with the PermaneReceiver managing, or taking
custody, control, or possession of, theeds or documents subject to this
Receivership;

B.  Transacting any of the businessioé Receivership Defendants;

C. Transferring, receiving, alteringelling, encumbering, pledging,
assigning, liquidating, or otherwise dispugiof any assets owdgcontrolled, or

in the possession or custody of, or in which an interest isdnaidimed by, the
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Receivership Defendants, oetRPermanent Receiver; and

D. Refusing to cooperate with the Pement Receiver or the Permang
Receiver’s duly authorized agsnn the exercise of their duties or authority unt
any order of this Court.
XX. PERMANENT RECEIVER’S REPORT

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Permanent Baiver shall report to
this Court: (1) the steps taken by therRanent Receiver to implement the term

of this Order; (2) the value of difuidated and unliquidated assets of

Receivership Defendants; (3) the sunalbfiabilities of Recerership Defendants;

(4) the steps the Permanent Receiver intémdske in the future to: (a) prevent
any diminution in the value of assetsRéceivership Defendants; (b) pursue
receivership assets from third parties; &rjdadjust the liabilities of Receivershij
Defendants, if approprigtés) the Permanent Recer&efinding regarding the
ability of the Receivership Defendantsaperate legally and profitably; and (6)
any other matters that the Permanent Retcdielieves should be brought to the
Court’s attention.Provided however, if any of the required information would
hinder the Permanent Receiver’s abilityptarsue receivership assets, the portic
of the Permanent Receiver’s report camtag the information may be filed undg

seal and not served on the parties.
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XXI. STAY OF ACTIONS AGAINST DEFENDANTS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, except by leave of this Court, during
the pendency of the Receivership oetkherein, Individual and Corporate
Defendants and their officers, agents, empes, attorneys, and all other persol
In active concert or participation witmyof them, who receive actual notice of
this Order, and any person seeking toldsth or enforce any right, title, interest
or claim against or on behalf of aBgfendant, and all others acting for or on
behalf of such persons, are hereloyoined from taking action that would
interfere with the exclusive jurisdiction tifis Court over the assets or docume
of the Defendants, including:

A.  Filing or assisting in the fitig of a petition for relief under the
Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. § 101 et.seq of any similar insolvency

proceeding;

B. Commencing, prosecuting, continuiremtering, or enforcing any sui

or proceeding against the Defendasts;ept that such actions may be
commenced if necessary to toll aayyplicable statute of limitations;

C. Accelerating the due taof any obligation or claimed obligation;
filing or enforcing any lien; taking or attempting to take possession, custody,
control of any asset; attempting to forecldsefeit, alter, or teminate any intereg

in any asset, whether such acts are paatjatlicial proceedingare acts of self-
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help, or otherwise;

D. Filing or enforcing any lien on angset of the Defendants, taking (¢
attempting to take possession, custodycamtrol of any assetf the Defendants;
or attempting to foreclose, forfeit, alter, terminate any intes¢in any asset of
the Defendants, whether such acts are gfaatjudicial proceeding, are acts of
self-help, or otherwise; or

E. Initiating any other process or meeding that would interfere with
the Permanent Receiver managing or takirgjamy, control, or possession of, ti
assets or documents subject to this receivership.

Providedthat, this Order does not stay: (1) the commencement or
continuation of a criminal action proceeding; (2) theommencement or
continuation of an action or proceeding by a governmental unit to enforce sy
governmental unit’s police or regulatggwer; or (3) the enforcement of a

judgment, other than a money judgmeatitained in an action or proceeding by

ch

a

governmental unit to enforce such governmental unit’s police or regulatory power.

XXII. COMPENSATION OF PERMANENT RECEIVER

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Permanent Receiver and all
personnel hired by the Permanent Receimetuding counsel to the Permanent
Receiver and accountants, are entitlecessonable compensation for the

performance of duties pursuant to thisil@rand for the cost of actual out-of-
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pocket expenses incurred by them solilyn the assets now held by, in the
possession or control of, or which yniae received by, the Receivership
Defendants. The Permanent Receiver ditalvith the Court and serve on the
parties periodic requests for the paymafirguch reasonable compensation, with
the first such request filed no more thaxtys(60) days after the date of entry of
this Order. The Permanent Receiver shatlincrease the hourly rates used as
bases for such fee applicationgh@ut prior approval of the Court.
XXIl.  DISTRIBUTION OF ORDER BY DEFENDANTS
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Individual and Corporate Defendants

shall immediately provide a copy of tider to each affiliate, sales entity,
successor, assign, member, officer, ctive, employee, agent, independent
contractor, client, servant, attorneypouse, subsidiary, division, and
representative of any Individual and Corgter Defendant, and shall, within ten
(10) days from the date of entry of tidsder, individually provide the FTC with
sworn statement that each Individual and Corporate Defendant has complieg
this provision of the Order, which staten shall include theames and address
of each such person or entity who received a copy of this Order.
XXIV. RETENTION OF JURISDICTION

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this Court shall retain jurisdiction of this

matter for all purposes.
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The Hearing re Asset Freeze set@mtober 1, 2015 is vacated and TAKEN
OFF-CALENDAR.

IT IS SO ORDERED.
AT

o /" g "’;n‘g;,/-c
4 /

Dated: September 9, 2015

Hon. GeorgeH. Wu,
United StatesDistrict Judge
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